NO. 44588-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DRAKE MCDANIEL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARED B. STEED
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The court erred in failing to instruct the jury on third degree theft as a lesser included offense of first degree robbery.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Did the trial court err in failing to instruct the jury on third degree theft as a lesser included offense of first degree robbery when, looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to appellant, a rational trier of fact could find that appellant committed only theft?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial Testimony

Early one April evening, Jazmyne Montgomery drove Donteise Mosley to a Walgreens parking lot. Mosley told Montgomery they were there to meet someone named “Budha” and buy \$10 worth of marijuana. RP 63-65, 86, 138-39, 159. In fact, Mosley was there to sell one-quarter of a pound of marijuana for about \$550. RP 143-44, 216, 220, 229-30, 236, 242, 272.

At the Walgreens, Montgomery parked next to a navy blue Cadillac Mosley recognized. RP 66-67, 233. The owner of the Cadillac was appellant Drake McDaniel’s girlfriend, Michele Andrews. RP 365, 519-20, 617-18. The driver of the Cadillac got into the rear passenger seat of Montgomery’s car. RP 69-70, 234. Mosley did not recognize the

driver, who identified himself as “YB.” RP 78, 234, 239. Nonetheless, Mosley shared a marijuana cigarette with YB. RP 141, 189, 235-36.

Conversation shifted to the marijuana Mosley intended to sell. Mosley showed YB some marijuana and mentioned there was more in a Winnie the Pooh box in the car trunk. RP 236. YB said he needed change, which Moseley said he could get at Walgreens. RP 127, 142, 240-41, 292. According to Mosley, YB then asked Montgomery to open her child-locked car door so he could get out of the car. RP 73-75, 243. Instead of getting out of the car, YB put a chrome gun to Mosley’s hip and said it was a robbery. Mosley gave YB the marijuana he had and “popped” the car trunk. RP 72, 198, 243-44, 292, 309.

Around the same time, another person got out from the Cadillac and stood next to Montgomery’s driver’s side door. RP 79-80, 83, 247. The person wore a black glove and held something that looked like a “remote” to Montgomery’s hip. RP 197. Montgomery assumed it was a gun. RP 198. The person told Montgomery not to look at him. RP 80-81, 199.

Mosley saw something black in the hand of the person standing next to Montgomery. RP 269-70, 283. He was uncertain whether the black object was a gun. RP 296. Mosley saw the person push

Montgomery against the car door frame. RP 284, 295. He did not see the person hit Montgomery. RP 247, 268, 283-84.

Mosley said YB got out of the car and went to the trunk before getting back inside Montgomery's car. RP 244-45, 291-92. Montgomery saw YB reach over the front seat and pull the car keys from the ignition. RP 75-77, 80-81, 87-90, 150-52, 181-82. YB also said "I gotta grab this," before pulling Montgomery's purse out of her hand. RP 152. Meanwhile, the person with the black object continued to stand outside the driver's door. RP 152-54. Mosley saw YB take the keys from the ignition but denied there was a "tug of war" for Montgomery's purse. RP 245-46, 284-85. Mosley's wallet was not taken. RP 282.

Mosley memorized the Cadillac's license plate as it drove away. RP 249. After the Cadillac left, Montgomery called 911 and reported the incident and the plate number. RP 93, 132, 248.

Shortly thereafter police headed toward Andrews' house. RP 393. As police neared Andrews' home, they spotted the Cadillac, which accelerated when police tried to pull it over. RP 394, 414. The car eventually stopped at Andrews' house. RP 395. The driver ran into the house. RP 396-97, 407, 414. The passenger of the Cadillac was identified as Jonathan Williams. RP 401, 420. As Williams got out of the car, a wallet containing Montgomery's Bank of America card fell out. RP 401,

415-16, 419. The wallet contained 16 fake \$100 bills. RP 367, 382, 432, 435.

Police searched the Cadillac and found car keys, a purse, marijuana, and envelopes addressed to McDaniel. RP 353-55, 361, 363-64. A nickel plated handgun was found in the backseat. RP 445-48, 450, 454. No fingerprints were found on the gun. RP 466, 471. Police did not find a Winnie the Pooh box in the car. RP 437-38.

Meanwhile, police interviewed Mosley and Montgomery. RP 250-51, 260. Both denied Mosley had a gun during the incident. RP 106, 200, 250, 311. Officer Tim Deccio said Montgomery and Mosley were “evasive” when questioned. RP 324, 332, 339. Mosley and Montgomery told Deccio they went to Walgreen’s to purchase marijuana. RP 333, 340, 377. Montgomery reported that McDaniel pointed a gun at Mosley’s head while Williams pointed a gun at Montgomery, covered her mouth, and demanded money. RP 87, 334-35, 377. Montgomery identified McDaniel from a photo montage as the Cadillac driver. RP 102-03, 138, 166. She also identified Williams’ as the passenger after he was arrested. RP 95-97, 137, 352. Mosley refused to identify people associated with the incident. RP 252, 346, 386, 459.

Police also seized surveillance video from the Walgreens parking lot. RP 345; Ex. 21. The video showed Williams, not McDaniel, going to the trunk of Montgomery's car. RP 195.

McDaniel was arrested several weeks after the alleged incident. RP 652. Based on this evidence, the State charged McDaniel with two counts of first degree robbery and one count of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-3, 6-8.

McDaniel's testimony differed from the allegations made by Montgomery and Mosley. McDaniel knew Mosley and bought marijuana from him about twice a month. RP 618-20. McDaniel called Mosley the day of the incident to buy marijuana and they arranged to meet at the Walgreens. RP 622-23. Williams accompanied McDaniel to the Walgreens. RP 624, 673. At the Walgreens, McDaniel got into the rear passenger seat of Montgomery's car and smoked marijuana with her and Mosley. RP 626-27. Williams went to Montgomery's car trunk. RP 630. When the conversation turned to purchasing marijuana, McDaniel gave Mosley eight fake \$100 bills. RP 632-33, 666, 674. McDaniel had obtained the fake money from Williams. RP 632.

McDaniel said Mosley became very angry when given the fake money. RP 634. He pulled out a gun and threatened to kill McDaniel if

he did not give Mosley all the money he had. RP 634-35, 639-40.

McDaniel gave Mosley \$1,200. RP 635, 639-40, 678.

At some point, Williams came to the driver's side window of Montgomery's car and asked what was happening. Williams reached toward his pocket or waistband. RP 636, 675. McDaniel thought Williams might have a gun but did not see Williams take anything from his pocket. RP 636-37, 675-77. McDaniel did not ask Williams whether he had a gun. RP 638. Williams did not tell McDaniel he had a gun. RP 637.

McDaniel explained Williams' gesture caused Mosley to put his gun away. RP 638, 676-77. At that point Williams told McDaniel, "let's go." RP 639. Williams walked away and started getting into the Cadillac. RP 640.

McDaniel took Montgomery's purse from the center console as he left the car. RP 639-40. He denied taking Montgomery's keys from the ignition because they were in the purse. RP 641. McDaniel hoped there was money in the purse to mitigate his loss to Mosley. RP 639.

Williams looked through the purse as McDaniel drove back to Andrews' home. RP 642. McDaniel explained he did not stop when pursued by the police because he had marijuana and Montgomery's purse in the car. RP 646-47. When he got to Andrews' house, McDaniel

jumped out of the car, ran through the house, and hid in his neighbor's sauna to avoid being arrested. RP 647-48. The police found and arrested Williams. RP 647. McDaniel later denied to police that he knew Williams or was at the Walgreens during the incident. RP 649, 653.

McDaniel acknowledged he intended to steal marijuana from Mosley. RP 674. However, he denied using a gun or force to get the marijuana or Montgomery's purse. RP 650. He said he did not have a gun during the incident, and never saw Williams with a gun. RP 636-38, 651, 654-55, 683. McDaniel did not know how a gun ended up in his car. RP 650-51, 683.

After hearing the above, a Pierce County jury found McDaniel guilty of first degree robbery of Montgomery's purse as charged in count one and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 35, 39; RP 862-63. The jury found McDaniel not guilty of first degree robbery of marijuana as charged in count two. CP 37; RP 862-63. The jury declined to find McDaniel was armed with a firearm during either alleged robbery. CP 36, 38. The trial court sentenced McDaniel to standard range, concurrent prison sentences of 171 months for the robbery and 89 months for the unlawful possession. CP 80-94, 104-05; RP 877. McDaniel timely appeals. CP 95-106.

2. Theft Instruction

McDaniel's theory of the case was that he committed theft, not robbery, of Montgomery's purse because he did not use or threaten force to obtain the purse. RP 756, 791, 793-94, 797, 799. Accordingly, defense counsel proposed a third degree theft instruction as a lesser offense to the charged first degree robbery. CP 11-15; RP 530, 696.

Counsel argued the evidence supported the proposed theft instruction. RP 696-99. Counsel noted McDaniel's testimony established that at the time he took Montgomery's purse no gun was displayed and no force was used. RP 697-99, 702-04, 711. Mosley did not dispute the purse was taken without force. RP 699. In addition, the surveillance video supported McDaniel's testimony that Williams was getting back into the Cadillac – not standing outside Montgomery's door – at the time the purse was taken. RP 698, 702, 711; Ex. 21. Based on this evidence, counsel argued there was a reasonable inference only the lesser crime of theft was committed. RP 699.

The State did not dispute third degree theft was a lesser offense of first degree robbery. RP 532. However, the prosecutor contended there was no factual basis to support an instruction in McDaniel's case. RP 530-32, 701. The prosecutor argued Williams' possession of a gun was a threat of force that allowed McDaniel to take the purse. RP 701, 708, 713.

After argument, the court denied McDaniel's request for the third degree theft instruction. RP 713. The Court explained, "[T]he purse was taken under the threat of force of Mr. Williams, which was what the defendant testified to, so it would not be appropriate under Workman¹ for me to include the lesser counts." RP 713-14.

C. ARGUMENT

MCDANIEL WAS ENTITLED TO A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION OF THIRD DEGREE THEFT.

The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on third degree theft. Based on the evidence presented at trial, the jury was entitled to find no force was used against Montgomery to part with her purse and thus McDaniel was guilty of only third degree theft.

An accused is entitled to jury instructions on all lesser included offenses. RCW 10.61.006.² A defendant is entitled to a lesser offense instruction if (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the charged offense and (2) the evidence supports an inference that the defendant committed the lesser offense. Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48. The first requirement is the "legal prong;" the second requirement

¹ State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

² RCW 10.61.006 provides: "The defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he is charged in the indictment or information."

is the “factual prong.” State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 546, 947 P.2d 700 (1997).

The lesser offense rule allows an accused to effectively argue his or her theory of the case to the jury. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 545, 548. The rule also “affords the jury a less drastic alternative than the choice between conviction of the offense charged and acquittal.” Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 633, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980). “Where one of the elements of the offense charged remains in doubt, but the defendant is plainly guilty of some offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction.” Beck, 447 U.S. at 634. This result is avoided when the jury is given the option of finding a defendant guilty of lesser included offense, thereby giving him the full benefit of the reasonable doubt standard. Beck, 447 U.S. at 634.

The refusal to give lesser included offense instructions in the face of supporting evidence therefore not only violates the statutory right but also the right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment. Beck, 447 U.S. at 637, 638 n.14 (1980).

A trial court’s refusal to give a jury instruction based on the evidence is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion, whereas the refusal to give a jury instruction based on the law is reviewed de novo. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998); see State v.

LaPlant, 157 Wn. App. 685, 687, 239 P.3d 366 (2010) (de novo review of legal prong of a request for a jury instruction on a lesser included offense; factual prong of a request for a jury instruction on a lesser included offense reviewed for abuse of discretion).

a. Third Degree Theft is A Lesser Offense of First Degree Robbery.

“Theft” means “[t]o wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or services.” RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). A person is guilty of third degree theft if he commits theft of property that does not exceed \$750 in value. RCW 9A.56.050(1)(a).

A person commits robbery when he (1) unlawfully takes personal property from another; (2) with intent to commit theft; (3) against the person’s will by use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his property or the person or property of anyone; and (4) such force for fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. CP 58 (instruction 8); RCW 9A.56.190; State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 98, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). First degree robbery occurs when, “in the commission of a robbery, or in

immediate flight therefrom,” a person displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon. RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(iii); CP 57 (instruction 7).

Since robbery includes the elements of larceny, third degree theft is always an included offense of robbery under the legal prong. Application of Salter, 50 Wn.2d 603, 605, 313 P.2d 700 (1957); State v. Byers, 136 Wash. 620, 622, 241 P. 9, 10 (1925). The “to convict” instruction for first degree robbery required the State to prove “the defendant or an accomplice unlawfully took personal property” and that “the defendant or an accomplice intended to commit theft of the property.” CP 62 (instruction 12). The legal prong of the Workman test is satisfied because theft is a necessary element of first degree robbery. There was no dispute below that the legal prong was satisfied. RP 532, 697.

b. A Rational Trier Of Fact Could Find McDaniel Committed Theft Rather Than Robbery Based On The Evidence Produced At Trial.

The factual prong of the Workman test is satisfied when evidence raises an inference that the lesser included offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). In other words, if the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and not guilty of the greater, a lesser offense instruction should be given. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 551.

In making this determination, the court must view the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party seeking the instruction and must consider all evidence presented at trial, regardless of its source. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56. The sole qualification is that “the evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant’s theory of the case — it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt.” Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 456. In keeping with these principles, sufficient evidence to give a proposed instruction exists if a rational trier of fact could find the facts necessary to support the instruction. State v. Vinson, 74 Wn. App. 32, 37, 871 P.2d 1120 (1994).

McDaniel’s theory was that he committed theft, not robbery, because he did not use or threaten force to obtain or retain Montgomery’s purse. The evidence supported this argument.

McDaniel explained he took Montgomery’s purse from the center console as he left the car. RP 639-40. Montgomery’s car keys were in the purse. RP 641. When McDaniel took the purse Mosley had put away his gun and Williams “was already getting back in my [McDaniel’s] car.” RP 640. McDaniel did not see a gun in Williams’ possession during the earlier encounter or as Williams got back into his car. RP 636-38, 640-41, 650-51, 675-76, 683.

McDaniel denied having a gun or other weapon at any point during the incident. RP 654-55. Nor did he use force to get the purse. McDaniel explained there was no struggle between him and Montgomery over the purse because he grabbed it so quickly “I don’t even believe that she knew I took it[.]” RP 641. Indeed, Mosley acknowledged there was no “tug of war” for the purse and that Montgomery was not hit during the incident. RP 284-85.

In short, the evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to McDaniel, supports a rational inference he committed only theft. The jury could have agreed that McDaniel used no force in taking Montgomery’s purse and that any threat of force ceased when Williams went back inside McDaniel’s car.

That McDaniel’s theory depends on disputed evidence is of no consequence. A jury must be instructed on a lesser offense if there is even “the slightest evidence” that the defendant may have committed the lesser offense. State v. Parker, 102 Wn.2d 161, 164, 683 P.2d 189 (1984) (quoting State v. Young, 22 Wn. 273, 276-77, 60 P. 650 (1900)). Here, a rational juror could find the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that McDaniel committed robbery. Significantly, the jury questioned the credibility of Montgomery and Mosley as evidenced by its not guilty verdict on the alleged marijuana robbery.

The factual prong is satisfied in this case because evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to McDaniel, allowed for the inference he did not use force or threat of force to take Montgomery's purse. It is the province of the jury to determine the facts. State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 221-22, 634 P.2d 868 (1981). The trial judge here, in refusing to give the jury an opportunity to decide whether McDaniel committed theft as opposed to robbery, usurped the fact-finding province of the jury.

Reversal is required when a trial court refuses to give a justifiable lesser included offense instruction. Parker, 102 Wn.2d at 163-64, 166; Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 462. McDaniel's conviction for first degree robbery must therefore be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.