NO. 44588-3-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DRAKE MCDANIEL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn Nelson

No. 12-1-01632-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
CHELSEY MILLER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. AS JURY SELECTION OCCURED IN AN OPEN COURTROOM, DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW ANY CLOSURE OF THE COURTROOM.
 - a. RAP 2.5(a)(3) Should Be Applied to Right to Public Trial Cases, As It Is to Other Constitutional Rights.

Ordinarily an appellate court will consider a constitutional claim for the first time on appeal only if the alleged error is manifest and truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332–33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *State v. Davis*, 41 Wn.2d 535, 250 P.2d 548 (1952); RAP 2.5(a)(3). Such a restriction is necessary because the failure to raise an objection in the trial court "deprives the trial court of [its] opportunity to prevent or cure the error" thereby undermining the primacy of the trial court. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (the constitutional error exception in RAP 2.5(a)(3) is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify a constitutional issue not litigated below). A defendant attempting to raise a claim for the first time on appeal must show both a constitutional error and prejudice to his rights. *Id.* at 926-27. A defendant can demonstrate actual prejudice on appeal by making a "plausible showing ... that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *Id.* at 935.

Prior to the adoption of RAP 2.5 the Washington Supreme Court held that a closed courtroom claim could be raised on appeal even if there was no objection on this ground in the trial court. *State v. Marsh*, 126 Wash. 142, 145-46, 217 P. 705 (1923).

At common law, constitutional issues not raised in the trial court were not considered on appeal, with just two exceptions. If a defendant's constitutional rights in a criminal trial were violated, such issue could be raised for the first time on appeal. Secondly, where a party raised a constitutional challenge affecting the jurisdiction of the trial court, an appellate court could also reach the issue.

State v. WWJ Corp. 138 Wn.2d 595, 601, 980 P.2d 1257, 1260 (1999) (citations omitted). These common law rules were replaced in 1976 by the adoption of the Rules of Appellate procedure, and specifically RAP 2.5(a). *Id.* at 601. As noted in a recent opinion, see *State v. Beskurt*, 176 Wn.2d 441, 449-50, 293 P.3d 1159 (2013) (Madsen, J. concurring), when the Supreme Court decided *State v. Bone-Club* in 1995, it cited to the rule in *Marsh* without taking into consideration of the impact of RAP 2.5(a)(3). See *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). This failure to consider the impact of RAP 2.5(a)(3) has persisted in other decisions. See, e.g., *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514-15, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

As three justices of the Supreme Court recently concluded, the appellate courts should refuse to apply a rule that conflicts with the Rules of Appellate Procedure and subverts the intent of RAP 2.5(a). *State v.*

Beskurt, 176 Wn.2d 441, 449-51, 293 P.3d 1159 (2013).

(Madsen, J., *concurring*). The Court in **Bone-Club** did not consider the change effected by RAP 2.5(a); its holding that a public trial error need not be raised in the trial court to be considered on appeal should be corrected.

Respect for *stare decisis* requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned. **State v. Devin**, 158 Wn.2d 157, 168, 142 P.3d 599 (2006). In this instance, the rule is incorrect because it contradicts the spirit and letter of the Rules of Appellate Procedure adopted by this Court. It is harmful in at least three respects: 1) the trial court is denied the opportunity to correct any error when no objection is required to preserve the issue for review; 2) it allows a defendant to participate in procedures and practices in the trial court that are to his benefit, yet still claim that these practices are the basis for error in the appellate court; and 3) as the **Marsh** rule does not require a defendant to show a manifest error or any actual prejudice before obtaining new trial, public respect for the court is diminished and judicial resources are wasted when retrial is given as a remedy when it is evident from the record that there is no prejudice to the defendant.

These harms can be seen in the case now before the court. The trial court had the parties indicate their peremptory challenges in writing on a paper that was passed back and forth; neither party voiced an

objection to this procedure. RP 16-17, 24; CP 112. Defendant exercised all of his peremptory challenges thereby eliminating venire persons he did not want on his jury. Had defendant objected to these procedures and argued that they constituted a violation of his right to an open courtroom, the trial court might have opted for different procedures just to eliminate a potential claim. Defendant cannot articulate any practical and identifiable negative consequences to his trial or show that he was prejudiced by the use of the written process to indicate peremptory challenges. His failure to object to what he now claims was a courtroom closure within the scope of the right to a public trial and his inability to establish resulting actual prejudice should preclude appellate review. Despite the fact that he cannot show any actual prejudice from the procedures used, defendant nevertheless, argues that he is entitled to a new trial. This is an abuse of the judicial process that should not be condoned.

This court should find that defendant's failure to object brings this issue under RAP 2.5(a)(3) and that he has failed to show an issue of truly constitutional magnitude that has caused him actual prejudice. As such this court should refuse to review the claim.

b. The Courtroom Was Open Throughout Voir Dire Proceedings.

A criminal defendant's right to a public trial is found in article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to

the United States Constitution; both provide a criminal defendant the right to a “public trial by an impartial jury.” The state constitution also provides that “[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly,” which grants the public an interest in open, accessible proceedings, similar to rights granted in the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. Wash. Const. article I, section 10; *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982); *Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984). The public trial right “serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury.” *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). “There is a strong presumption that courts are to be open at all trial stages.” *Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d at 90. The right to a public trial includes voir dire. *Presley v. Georgia*, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010).

Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 147, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). The right to a public trial is violated when: 1) the public is fully excluded from proceedings within a courtroom, *State v. Bone–Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (no spectators allowed in courtroom during a suppression hearing) and *State v. Easterling*, 157 Wn.2d 167, 172, 137 P.3d 825 (2006) (all spectators, including

codefendant and his counsel, excluded from the courtroom while codefendant plea-bargained); 2) the entire voir dire is closed to all spectators, *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 511, 122 P.3d 150 (2005); 3) and is implicated when individual jurors are privately questioned in chambers, see *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 146, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) and *State v. Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 224, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (jury selection is conducted in chambers rather than in an open courtroom without consideration of the *Bone–Club* factors). In contrast, conducting individual voir dire in an open courtroom without the rest of the venire present does not constitute a closure. *State v. Erickson*, 146 Wn. App. 200, 189 P.3d 245 (2008).

When faced with a claim that a trial court has improperly closed a courtroom, the Washington Supreme Court has held that the reviewing court determines the nature of the closure by the presumptive effect of the plain language of the court’s ruling, not by the ruling’s actual effect. *In re Personal Restraint of Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 807-8, 100 P.3d 291 (2004).

In the case now before the Court, defendant argues that the procedure used by the court for peremptory challenges constituted a courtroom closure. The record shows that the following occurred: In an open court room with the defendant present, the trial court articulated how it wanted counsel to address peremptory challenges. See RP 15-16.

COURT: ... I should have asked if there were any such questions. There's a reason why you haven't done a trial, and that was that I was out of criminal trials for four years. But I've been back a whole year now so I can tell you that I ask you to exercise your six peremptories each, and then you will come up with who is Juror Number 12.

PROSECUTOR: And then come to you.

COURT: And there's a -- when you see the sheet, there's a little line, so if the two of you agree on who the twelfth juror is, then you can just proceed and exercise your first peremptory for Alternate 13 and then exercise your second peremptory if you wish for Alternate 14.

I will tell 13 and 14 they are alternates. I will instruct them specifically about being an alternate. And usually you get all the way through, but then you bring it to me to check before I actually seat them. So if there's any problem, we usually work it out before then.

RP 15. Neither defendant nor his attorney objected to this procedure. RP 15-16. At the close of questioning, the court instructed the jury as the parties started the peremptory challenge process and then called both counsel to a sidebar. RP 24-25. The peremptory challenge process went as follows:

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the next phase of this process is to allow the lawyers to exercise their peremptory challenges. We give them an opportunity to remove some jurors if they wish for no stated reason. And while they're doing that, it's important that you make sure your badge number is high up so that they can see it and remember the answers to the questions that they may have asked you.

If you'd like to stand up and stretch, if you'd like to take out reading material or knitting or anything like that, you can speak softly to your neighbor, but please stay in

order because that will help us remember who gave which answer, okay?

So kind of like in the military, you're at ease.

(Peremptory challenges exercised.)

THE COURT: Counsel.

(Side bar held which was not reported.)

THE COURT: Okay. Ladies and gentlemen, I am now going to seat the twelve jurors and the alternate, and what I'm going to do is I'm going to make the assignments, and I want everybody to stay right where you are. ...

RP 25-26. The court then read off the names of the jurors who would sit on the case and excused the remainder of the venire. RP 25-27.

Defendant has failed to identify any ruling of the court that closed the courtroom to any person. All jury selection was conducted in the courtroom as opposed to the judge's chambers or the jury room. Defendant can point to no Washington case that has found a courtroom closure under these circumstances. Rather, defendant argues that conducting the peremptory challenge process in writing effectively "closed" the courtroom.

The right to a public trial serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury. *Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d at 514 (citing *Peterson v. Williams*, 85 F.3d 39, 43 (2d Cir. 1996)). But not every interaction

between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71. To decide whether a particular process must be open to the press and the general public, the *Sublett* court adopted the “experience and logic” test formulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court*, 478 U.S. 1, 8, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986). *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 73, 141.

The first part of the test, the experience prong, asks “whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public.” The logic prong asks “whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question.” If the answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches and the Waller or Bone–Club factors must be considered before the proceeding may be closed to the public. We agree with this approach and adopt it in these circumstances.

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. Applying that test, the *Sublett* court held that no violation of the right to a public trial occurred when the court considered a jury question in chambers. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 74–77. “None of the values served by the public trial right is violated under the facts of this case.... The appearance of fairness is satisfied by having the question, answer, and any objections placed on the record.” *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 77.

Division III of the Court of Appeals recently addressed whether challenges for cause done in a sidebar constituted a courtroom closure under the experience and logic test in *State v. Love*, 176 Wn. App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). As to the experience prong the court concluded:

The history review confirms that in over 140 years of cause and peremptory challenges in this state, there is little evidence of the public exercise of such challenges, and some evidence that they are conducted privately. Our experience does not require that the exercise of these challenges be conducted in public.

Love, 176 Wn. App. at 919. Under the logic prong, the court found that none of the purposes of the public trial right were furthered by a party's actions in making a challenge for cause or a peremptory challenge as a challenge for cause creates an issue of law for the judge to decide and a peremptory challenge "presents no questions of public oversight." *Id.* The court concluded that use of a side bar to conduct challenges for cause did not constitute a courtroom closure. *Id.* at 920.

In addition to the historical review conducted in *Love*, there is some additional authority that the public announcement of a peremptory challenge in open court by the party exercising the challenge is not a widespread practice. When the United States Supreme Court decided that it was just as improper for a criminal defendant to excuse a potential juror for an improper reason as it was a prosecutor, the court commented that "it is common practice not to reveal the identity of the challenging party to the jurors and potential jurors[.]" *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 53 n.8, 112 S. Ct. 2348 (1992), *citing* Underwood, *Ending Race Discrimination in Jury Selection: Whose Right Is It, Anyway?*, 92 Colum.L.Rev. 725, 751, n. 117 (1992).

In the case now before the court, defendant does not point to any ruling of the court that excluded spectators or any other person from the courtroom during the voir dire process. The record indicates that all of voir dire and the exercise of peremptory challenges were carried out in an open courtroom. Peremptory challenges were made by the attorneys in open court, albeit by a written process. RP 25-27; CP 112. Presumably, defendant could see the peremptory sheet and discuss the process with his attorney while it was going on. The written record of the process was reviewed by the court and filed, making it available for public inspection. CP 112. None of the peremptory challenges were contested and there was no need for the court to make any decisions on the peremptory challenges. RP 148-165; CP 113-114. The record offers no basis to assume that anything occurred during this process other than the written communication, among counsel and the court, of the names of the prospective jurors each counsel had decided to excuse by the right of peremptory challenge. Anyone can look at the peremptory challenge sheet and see exactly which party exercised which peremptory against which prospective juror and in what order. CP 112.

It should be noted that under *McCullum*, both the prosecution and defense are forbidden from removing a juror with a peremptory challenge for an improper purpose. Thus, if there was a concern that a juror was being removed for an improper reason, it is immaterial which party exercised a peremptory against that juror. Any potential juror who felt

that he or she was being improperly removed from the jury could raise his or her concern with the trial court. Under the written process used here, the court would know who had exercised its peremptory against that person and could decide whether it was necessary for that party to explain its reasons for doing so. The procedure used below protects the values of the public trial right.

Defendant has failed to identify any closure of the courtroom during voir dire and fails to show how the procedures used in an open court undermined the purposes of the public trial right. Anyone sitting in the court room would know which jurors were excused for cause and why. RPVD 29, 51; CP 109-111, 113-115. The parties carefully recorded the names of the prospective jurors who were removed by peremptory challenge, as well as the order in which each challenge was made and the party who made it. CP 112. This document is easily understood, and it was made part of the open court record, available for public scrutiny. These procedures satisfied the court's obligation to ensure the open administration of justice.

The only thing that did not occur was the vocal announcement of each peremptory challenge as it was made. There is no indication that our constitution requires that everything and anything that is done in the course of a public trial be announced in open court. For example, seven years after statehood, the Washington Supreme Court issued its opinion in *State v. Holedger*, 15 Wash. 443, 448, 46 Pac. 652 (1896). Holedger

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